**PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND  
RULINGS OF THE LOWER COURT**

Counsel for the Appellant realizes that there may be more detail than normal included in this section of the brief. However, this case did not proceed in the usual manner and the information is provided herein for clarification, so that the errors can be understood by this Honorable Court.

The Appellant, Francis Anthony Sandor, III, was convicted of the misdemeanor offense of battery following a bench trial in Monongalia County Magistrate Court on November 14, 2001. The Appellant appeared pro se in Magistrate Court, filed motions and attempted to contest the court's authority and demanded that rulings be made. At the conclusion of the bench trial, the magistrate imposed a one-year sentence in the North Central Regional Jail and assessed a fine and costs. Said jail sentence was imposed even though the alleged victim never testified and the State did not request the maximum sentence.

On November 19, 2001, the Appellant timely executed a criminal appeal bond and a financial affidavit for appointment of counsel, which stayed the imposition of sentence. This Circuit Court never ruled upon this financial affidavit when it was filed, neither at the motion hearing nor at the de novo bench trial as provided for the appeal from Magistrate Court. Instead, when the case was transferred to the Circuit Court, the trial judge assigned to the appeal, the Honorable Russell M. Clawges, Jr., entered an Order scheduling a non-jury trial for January 22, 2002. The Judge's office forwarded

copies of the Order to the parties. The Appellant scheduled a hearing on January 18, 2002 requesting a continuance advising that he only received actual notice on January 16<sup>th</sup>. The trial court denied the motion but did not rule on the aforementioned financial affidavit. The Circuit Court indicated that it had reviewed the file and was aware that the Appellant had executed a financial affidavit, but no inquiry was made by the court, nor was a finding of ineligibility or waiver made. (January 18, 2002, Tr. P. 13).

On January 22, 2002, a de novo bench trial was held with the Appellant appearing without counsel. The trial court summarily ruled on Appellant's motions and stated that he would be accorded "all of his constitutional rights required by law." (January 22, 2002, Tr. P. 4). The trial court took the matter under advisement at the conclusion of closing statements, and issued a Judgment Order on January 25, 2002, imposing the same sentence meted out by the magistrate. Appellant was not afforded a sentencing hearing nor an opportunity for allocution before his sentence was imposed.

After his conviction in Circuit Court, Appellant filed several post-trial motions. Most importantly, on February 4, 2002, Appellant filed a motion to clarify, asking the Circuit Court to explain why it never ruled on Appellant's initial financial affidavit. Moreover, on the same date, Appellant filed a motion requesting court appointed appellate counsel and later completed another financial affidavit. On February 11, 2002, the undersigned was appointed to represent Mr. Sandor in completing post-trial motions and an appeal to this Honorable Court. On the same date counsel prepared an Order granting a stay of execution of sentence and continuance from a hearing scheduled on February 13, 2002, to hear Appellant's post-trial motions.

On February 28, 2002, counsel first appeared in Circuit Court with Appellant and, after objection from the State, received an extension to file post-trial motions pending the preparation of the transcripts from the two January hearings. Moreover, over objection from the State, Appellant's stay of execution was extended. At the first hearing, counsel began raising concerns about procedural defects, due process and other constitutional violations. The defense was ordered to file authority for its contention that the Appellant was entitled to allocution, a sentencing hearing and pre-sentence investigation. The memorandum was filed, the State responded and on March 28, 2002, the Circuit Court granted the defense motion to set aside the sentence and Ordered that a complete sentencing hearing be held. The lower court made the ruling still not believing that the Appellant was entitled to these procedural rights.

The original sentencing hearing was scheduled for May 28, 2002, but was continued by the trial court until June 14, 2002. At that time, the parties argued the post-trial motions, including Appellant's and those filed by counsel. One of the motions filed by counsel involved the production of the transcripts from a trial in an unrelated felony case involving the Appellant. The undersigned argued this was necessary since the Circuit Court and State made several references to the other trial and defense counsel had no personal knowledge of those proceedings. The State did not object and the Circuit Court ordered the production of any hearings or trial transcripts not previously prepared. Appellant's counsel prepared a separate Order to ensure that the court reporter would be compensated for the transcription. However, Appellant did not receive any transcripts until May 25, 2004.

Additionally at the June 14, 2002 hearing, the Court took the post-trial motions under advisement. The State and then the defense were afforded an opportunity to respond and rebut, respectively, after the production of the transcripts. The Court held that it would either issue a ruling on the post-trial motions or schedule another hearing if further argument was required. The central issue was the defense contention that the Appellant was denied his constitutional right to counsel for the de novo appeal. The Circuit Court further ordered Appellant to submit an Affidavit setting forth his reasons for executing the original financial affidavit.

On December 9, 2002, the Judge's secretary called advising that the Court wanted the Affidavit filed or a ruling would be forthwith issued. Counsel explained that the Court's Order did not set forth a time in which to file the Affidavit. Furthermore, the Affidavit had been completed shortly after the June hearing, but counsel was waiting to include it with the rebuttal in support of the post-trial motions. Nevertheless, the Affidavit was filed that date as well as several additional documents. The State responded on January 9, 2004, by filing a motion for imposition of sentence. The Appellant filed a response on January 15, 2004.

The court reporter never did complete the entire transcripts Ordered by the Circuit Court. Instead, the Appellant received two pre-trial transcripts and a small excerpt from the felony trial. The court reporter explained that he spoke with Court after the hearing and was instructed not produce the entire transcript. Nothing in the court file corroborates or refutes this contention. Pursuant to the June 2002 Order, the State was granted leave to respond to Appellant's post-trial motions and supporting memorandum utilizing the newly produced transcripts. The State filed its response on July 30, 2004

and the Appellant filed his rebuttal on August 5, 2004. Whereupon, the Court, according to its June 2002 Order, was supposed to rule or schedule a hearing after considering the documents which the parties filed. By Order entered August 11, 2004, the Circuit Court rejected Appellant's motion for a new trial and rescheduled the sentencing hearing.

On October 12, 2004, the sentencing hearing was held with the Order being entered on October 21, 2004. The Circuit Court reinstated its former sentence; sua sponte revoked Appellant's bond, denied defense counsel's oral motion for post-conviction bond and remanded Appellant to the North Central Regional Jail. In order to perfect the appeal, on November 19, 2004, the Appellant submitted a notice of intent to appeal and designation of the record. The entirety of the grounds will be fully stated and developed herein.

On October 29, 2004, the Appellant filed a summary petition for post-conviction bail and the State subsequently filed a response. By Order entered December 2, 2004, said petition was denied. The Appellant has completed his sentence, yet nevertheless desires to seek an acquittal through this appeal.

To assist this Court in reviewing the propriety of the verdict, the original papers of the underlying proceedings, both Magistrate and Circuit Court, together with a certified transcript of every hearing in this case, as well as those prepared in the unrelated felony case (01-F-65), have been designated to accompany this brief. The Appellant relies upon these documents, as well as the constitutional statutory and case law cited herein as the basis for a reversal of the verdict and asks that same be read as part of this brief.

## II.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts in the instant case are really secondary to the procedural and constitutional defects illustrated in section one hereinabove. However, the facts help form the framework and place the errors in context. The Appellant was arrested on the misdemeanor charge of battery on May 5, 2001. The Appellant elected to represent himself in that proceeding. He filed numerous pre-trial motions which were almost all denied without permitting a hearing or argument. He was convicted following a bench trial in Magistrate Court on November 14, 2001. The Appellant was sentenced to serve one year in the North Central Regional Jail and assessed a fine and costs. This sentence was imposed even though the State never requested the maximum sentence and the State never produced the alleged victim for the magistrate's consideration or cross-examination.

The Appellant felt compelled to appeal his conviction believing that he did not receive due process. Accordingly, on November 19, 2001, he completed a financial affidavit requesting court appointed counsel for his appeal to Circuit Court and executed a criminal appeal bond. Subsequently the Appellant filed a formal notice of intent to appeal. On or about November 30, 2001, Magistrate Court forwarded its file to the Monongalia County Circuit Clerk. It appears that the financial affidavit was forwarded with the Magistrate Court file and was not provided in the normal manner to the chief judge, who was assigned to this case, for his review. Instead, the financial affidavit apparently was lodged and became part of the Circuit Court file.

On or about December 4, 2001, the Circuit Court scheduled the de novo bench trial for January 22, 2002 and mailed an Order reflecting the trial date to the parties. The Appellant was out of town visiting relatives during the holidays and only found out about the trial date on January 16, 2002. The Appellant called his neighbor requesting that she check his mail for some documents he was expecting for a work-related project. His neighbor discovered the envelope from the Circuit Court's office and advised him of its contents. The Appellant was surprised to learn that his bench trial date was set for the next week.

He immediately called the court's secretary and requested a continuance. A hearing was scheduled for January 18, 2002. The Appellant prepared a motion and orally argued same. He set forth several reasons why he needed a continuance and did briefly mention that he filed a financial affidavit. (January 18, 2002, Tr. P. 3). The trial court also mentions the affidavit, but makes no further query. (January 18, 2002, Tr. P. 13). The trial court denied the continuance and made findings of fact, but never ruled that the Appellant had waived his right to counsel and was proceeding with self-representation.

The Circuit Court subsequently asserted that the Appellant never requested trial counsel in response to an argument made by appellate counsel. "You were not appointed until after the trial because Mr. Sandor did not ask for counsel until after the trial.... To contend that he was somehow denied appointed counsel for the trial of this case, you're barking up the wrong tree." (February 28, 2002, Tr. P. 13-14). Later yet, the lower court changed its position and acknowledged the filing of the first financial affidavit, but held that the Appellant waived his right to counsel since he never raised the issue before the de novo bench trial.

As previously Ordered, the de novo bench trial occurred on January 22, 2002. At the conclusion of the continuance hearing, the Circuit Court granted the Appellant leave to file motions to be heard before the trial. The Appellant submitted three motions. At the outset of the bench trial, the Circuit Court listed the motions filed and resolved them in a summary manner without permitting the Appellant to argue same, only answer several questions. In one of the motions, the Appellant requested that he be granted all of his constitutional rights. The Court announced that it intended "to afford to the defendant all of his constitutional rights required by law." (January 22, 2002, Tr. P. 4).

Notwithstanding the pronouncement, the Circuit Court heard the case and never advised the Appellant of his constitutional rights or inquired regarding the financial affidavit. Furthermore, there was no discussion if the Appellant was waiving his right to counsel. The Circuit Court never advised the Appellant of his right to testify or the dangers associated with waiving this right. Lastly, the trial court took the evidence under advisement and on January 25, 2002, issued a Judgment Order sentencing the Appellant without according a sentencing hearing and the right of allocution.

During the bench trial, the alleged victim again did not appear. The Appellant requested a current address after she did not appear in Magistrate Court, but the State sent both subpoenas to the same address and never provided a different address to the Appellant. Nevertheless, the State was able to locate a current address to obtain a victim impact statement when the defense obtained a sentencing hearing. This statement varied greatly from the one given on the day of the Appellant's arrest.

It was undisputed that the alleged victim struck the Appellant without provocation while he was seated in the passenger seat of a vehicle parked outside of the Point Marion

Dairy Mart. There was a discrepancy in the testimony regarding what occurred earlier in the evening to anger Ms. Griffin. The Appellant testified that he entered the store with the intention of utilizing the telephone to call the police to report the incident. The Appellant stated that he was again attacked as he attempted to use the telephone and that he requested that the driver and the clerk call the police on his behalf. The Appellant, believing that he was a victim, attempted to restrain Ms. Griffin to prevent further injury until the police arrived. A struggle over the telephone ensued and ultimately the Appellant subdued and held her awaiting the arrival of the police.

Apparently there is a rather large disparity in size between the alleged victim and the Appellant. She, through the other witnesses that actually testified, alleged injuries were incurred while being subdued. The details of the events in the store, the type, extent or existence of any injuries varies greatly depending upon the testimony of the witnesses and victim impact statement submitted by the alleged victim. The Appellant testified, and was not directly contradicted by the State's evidence, that he did not enter the store to confront the alleged victim. However, the witnesses did not agree about what occurred after the Appellant and Ms. Griffin struggled for the telephone.

The Appellant told the trooper at the time of his arrest and at trial that he was attempting to call the police and not retaliate when he entered the store. At trial, the Appellant explained that he believed given with the allegations the woman made in the felony trial, that he needed to summon the police and document that the woman struck him. He stated that he did not intend, nor did he strike, punch, stomp, pull out hair or throw down the alleged victim. Instead, he described Ms. Griffin's attempt to prevent him from using the phone and his decision to subdue her until the police arrived. He

testified that he was attempting to effectuate a citizen's arrest. The Circuit Court rejected his testimony and as previously stated, reinstated the Appellant's sentence by Order dated January 25, 2002.

Shortly thereafter, the Appellant completed another financial affidavit and filed several post-trial motions. In one motion, he formally and specifically raised the trial court's failure to provide counsel. The Appellant's income is virtually identical in both financial affidavits, so he would have been eligible in November 2001. The undersigned was appointed on February 11, 2002, for the purpose of completing post-trial motions and filing an appeal. It became quickly apparent that procedural anomalies existed. For instance, it is not normal that post-trial motions are heard after sentence has been imposed.

However, disturbing the procedural irregularities were, the substantive constitutional defects mentioned previously were even more troubling. The undersigned filed several motions and supporting memorandums during 2002 and 2004 to support her client's assertion of deprivation of his substantive and procedural constitutional rights. The Circuit Court never admitted that the Appellant had the right of allocution or to violating any rights, but did set aside the sentence and ordered a sentencing hearing in an Order issued March 28, 2002. Other than that, the trial court only addressed constitutional issues in its Order rejecting the Appellant's post-trial motions.

On August 11, 2004, the Circuit Court issued its ruling on the Appellant's post-trial motions filed and argued in 2002. The lapse of time occurred while the parties waited for the court reporter to transcribe transcripts from the unrelated felony case. Apparently the Circuit Court, sua sponte, deviated from its ruling and did not require

production of all of the transcripts. In its Order, the Circuit Court held that the Appellant waived his right to counsel, deemed his other grounds for a new trial to be without merit and rescheduled the sentencing hearing. At the sentencing hearing on October 12, 2004, the Circuit Court denied the defense motion for probation and sua sponte remanded the Appellant to begin serving his sentence. This Court refused to grant relief in a summary petition for post-conviction bail and, as predicted, the Appellant fully satisfied his sentence before this Court will rule on the merits of this matter. (October 12, 2004, Tr. P. 32).

### III.

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL.
2. THE CIRCUIT COURT VIOLATED APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.
3. THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL DUE TO CUMULATIVE ERROR.

### IV.

#### ARGUMENT

1. **THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL.**

“The right of a defendant in a criminal proceeding to the assistance of counsel is a fundamental right, the waiver of which will not be presumed by the failure of the accused to request counsel, by the entry of a guilty plea or by reason of a record silent concerning the matter of counsel and the conviction of a defendant in the absence of counsel or of an affirmative showing of an intelligent waiver of such right is void.” Syl. Pt. 4, State v. McCraine, 214 W.Va. 188, 588 S.E.2d 177 (2003).

In the case at bar, the Appellant’s right to counsel was violated since the Circuit Court failed to inquire, before, during or after the de novo bench trial about his decision regarding representation. Similarly, the Circuit Court never asked the Appellant if he waived his right to counsel and desired to proceed pro se. The constitutional right to counsel is a two-pronged right. Defendants, including the Appellant, have the right of counsel, either retained or appointed if qualified, and there is also a right of self-representation. This right is granted by Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution. The Circuit Court had a duty to advise the Appellant of his constitutional rights and to ascertain that the Appellant understood same and was making knowing and informed decisions.

“Where there is no indication from the record, or otherwise, that an accused was offered counsel, or that he intelligently and knowingly and understandingly waived the assistance of counsel, the constitutional right of such accused relating thereto has been violated, his conviction and sentence are therefore void, and he should be released from confinement ....” Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rel. Arbraugh v. Boles, 149 W.Va. 193, 139 S.E.2d 370 (1964).

In the present case, the record reflects that the Appellant did timely complete a financial affidavit requesting court appointed counsel for his appeal to Circuit Court. The Appellant executed the document in front of the magistrate assistant on November 19, 2001, just five days after his conviction in Magistrate Court. The Circuit Court never ruled on the financial affidavit as required by West Virginia Code 29-21-16(d). It would appear that the financial affidavit was not forwarded in the normal manner for the court's consideration. Instead, it seems that the financial affidavit was lodged in the Magistrate Court file and became part of the Circuit Court file when it was transferred.

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