NO. 32663

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

The appellant argues that the case of State ex rel. Kozdron v. Boles, 149 W. Va. 596, 142 S.E.2d 769 (1965), prevents the judge in the present case from considering his prior experience with the appellant. As previously explained, the appellant misconstrued the judge's reliance on the earlier case and consequently misapplies the holding of Kozdron. In Kozdron, the grand jury handed down three indictments against the defendant on the same day but for different crimes. Id. at 597. The defendant was arraigned for the first indictment on November 22, waived counsel, pled not guilty

but was found guilty by jury trial. Id. On November 24, the defendant was arraigned on the remaining two indictments and this time pled guilty to both of them without counsel present and without ever waiving counsel. Id. During the habeas proceeding the respondent contended that the refusal of counsel to represent him with respect to the first indictment acted as a refusal of counsel with respect to the remaining two. The Court held that there could be no presumption that counsel was waived at the latter arraignment based solely on the waiver at the prior one. Id. Due to a silent record on the matter, the guilty pleas were dismissed. Id.

That case is distinguishable from the present case for several reasons. First of all, in that case the respondent actually contended that the waiver of counsel in the prior case served as a waiver in the latter case. The circuit judge in the present case simply viewed his prior encounter with the appellant as *additional* evidence that the appellant was aware of his right to counsel and the dangers of self-representation, not as *conclusive* evidence of waiver. This is perfectly reasonable and supported by the Gravely decision. The court never presumed that counsel was waived just because it was waived in a prior case, as the appellant contends.

Secondly, in Kozdron the defendant simply entered a guilty plea without counsel present, so there was no conduct that the reviewing court could examine to help determine if a knowing and intelligent waiver occurred. In the present case, as in Gravely, the appellant conducted an entire trial without the assistance of counsel, so there is ample conduct and other evidence to show that waiver was made knowingly and intelligently. The facts and rulings in the present case are far more analogous to Gravely than they are to Kozdron. Therefore, the circuit judge's familiarity with the appellant was properly considered as evidence and does not constitute reversible error.

4. The Motion Demanding Constitutional Rights Was Not a Request for Counsel.

Though the appellant asserts that his motion titled "Motion Demanding Constitutional Rights" showed that he was not waiving counsel, a reading of the motion and memorandum in support of the motion reveals that the appellant's only intent was to request more time to obtain witnesses and to unequivocally inform the judge that no counsel was desired. In effect, regardless of its title, this was a renewed motion for continuance because a prior motion for continuance had been denied just four days earlier. This time the appellant chose to cite the constitutional right to "have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor" as grounds for a continuance. (App. at 76-77.) Nevertheless, this motion never mentions a desire for counsel, a demand for counsel or a concern that he was being denied his right to counsel.

That the appellant would cite this motion as a demand for counsel is particularly absurd considering that the memorandum in support of the motion specifically asks the court to recognize that he is acting *pro se* and should not be held to the same legal standard as a licensed attorney. *Id.* at 76 n1. This demand provides the clearest indication that the appellant knowingly and intelligently chose self-representation and had no desire for counsel. The appellant asked the court to take judicial notice that he was acting on his own behalf in order to take advantage of the leniency afforded *pro se* litigants; he now asks this Court to view the exact same motion as a prayer for counsel and as evidence that he was *not* acting on his own behalf. His argument is ridiculous. To use an old maxim, he wants to have his cake and eat it too.

The truth is that the appellant knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel and only claimed that he was denied this right after being convicted in circuit court. The motion

demanding constitutional rights does not support the appellant's argument, but actually proves it false. The circuit judge was correct to disregard this motion as a request for counsel. The only thing it demanded was that he take judicial notice of the appellant's desire to proceed *pro se* and this Court should not reverse the final ruling based on this motion.

5. Due Process Was Not Violated Because the Appellant Was Not Denied His Right to Counsel; He Waived it Knowingly and Voluntarily.

"[A] trial judge may not make an evidentiary ruling which deprives a criminal defendant of certain rights, such as the right to . . . offer testimony in support of his or her defense, and to be represented by counsel, which are essential for a fair trial pursuant to the due process clause found in the [Constitutions of the United States and West Virginia]" Syl. pt. 3, State v. Jenkins, 195 W. Va. 620, 466 S.E.2d 471 (1995).

The appellant cites Jenkins as support for his argument that his due process rights were violated. This argument is merely a rehash of his previous arguments and requires no new analysis. The appellant claims that he did not waive his right to counsel but was denied this right, which resulted in a violation of due process. Accordingly, this argument, like his previous arguments, relies on this Court finding that the circuit court was clearly erroneous when it found that the appellant knowingly and understandingly waived his right to counsel. However, if this Court concludes that the circuit court's finding was not clearly erroneous, then it must also conclude that the appellant's due process was not violated because his right to counsel was properly waived.

For all of the reasons already discussed in detail in the preceding sections of this brief, the circuit court's finding that the appellant knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel,

opting instead for self-representation, was not clearly erroneous. Therefore, the appellant's due process was not violated and this Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling.

6. Express Waiver in Magistrate Court Should Be Considered to Be Prima Facie Evidence of a Continuing Waiver Throughout the Circuit Court Appeal.

Completing a statement of rights form, which informs a defendant of his right to counsel and his right to waive counsel, though not conclusive, does constitute prima facie evidence that the waiver of counsel was done knowingly and intelligently. State v. Armstrong, 175 W. Va. at 387, 332 S.E.2d at 843, *overruled on other grounds by State v Hopkins*, 192 W. Va. 483, 453 S.E.2d 317 (1994).

When the appellant was arrested on May 5, 2001, the magistrate informed him of his right to counsel and his right to have counsel appointed if he could not afford one. The appellant signed a statement of rights form confirming that he was aware of his rights and that he was giving up his right to have an attorney represent him. (App. at 7.) The appellant signed the form with the added notation "without prejudice," apparently attempting to convey that he might later want to change his mind; however, he expressly waived counsel at that moment and opted for self-representation, which he never did rescind until February 4, 2002 – two weeks after he was found guilty in circuit court – when he filed a motion requesting the assistance of counsel and a motion asking why he "did not receive the counsel requested." The appellant claims that the financial affidavit of November 19, 2001, was a request for counsel and rescinded his earlier waiver, but that affidavit has already been discredited in great detail and the circuit judge determined, based in part on the appellant's own in-court representations, that it was not a request for counsel.

The appellant concedes that completing the form properly waived counsel in magistrate court, but argues that the circuit judge is required to perform the same discussion of rights that was already performed in magistrate court. Though no case law could be found stating that a waiver of the right to counsel in magistrate court remains presumptively valid through the appeal process in circuit court until the defendant rescinds the waiver, the state now urges this Court to adopt such a rule.

Creating such a rule would logically correspond with this Court's already existing rule that the waiver of the right to a jury trial in magistrate court, also a fundamental constitutional right, is a waiver of the right to jury trial for the duration of the case, including the circuit court appeal. *See State ex rel. Ring v. Boober*, 200 W. Va. 66, 488 S.E.2d 66 (1997). The Court in *Boober* held that the procedures set forth in West Virginia Code § 50-5-8(b) are sufficient to inform the magistrate that the constitutional right to jury trial has been voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived, thus protecting a defendant's right to jury trial. Syllabus, *Id.* The section of code referenced in *Boober* states that "the defendant shall be advised of the right to trial by jury in writing," and that the demand must be made within twenty days of the initial appearance. W. Va. Code § 50-5-8(b). Failure to demand a jury trial within the twenty day limit forfeits the right to trial by jury even for the circuit court appeal. W. Va. Code § 50-5-13(b).

The section of code regarding the right to counsel states, "the magistrate shall at the time of the initial appearance advise a defendant of his right to counsel and his right to have counsel appointed if such defendant cannot afford to retain counsel." W. Va. Code § 50-4-3. The language of this section is so similar to the language regarding the right to jury trial that it would be reasonable to conclude that a waiver in magistrate court remains in effect for the duration of the case, including

the appeal to circuit court, unless the defendant expressly rescinds the waiver and/or makes a request for counsel, in good faith, that is not interposed merely to delay or disrupt the proceedings.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ESTABLISH A PER SE RULE REQUIRING AN ADVICE-OF-RIGHTS COLLOQUY BETWEEN THE CIRCUIT COURT AND A DEFENDANT PROCEEDING *PRO SE*.

The appellant argues that the circuit court had an unconditional duty to advise him on the record of his rights regarding the assistance of counsel before a proper waiver could occur. As previously discussed, that is an incorrect statement of the law. While there are cases that encourage such a colloquy, none make it mandatory.⁸ In fact, the law is clear that a defendant can affirmatively waive counsel through conduct that demonstrates a knowing and intelligent waiver even without an in-depth discussion on the record. That being established, the appellant's brief implies that this court should overrule the prior cases and create a per se rule requiring an advice-of-rights colloquy on the record with *pro se* defendants before a proper waiver can occur.

This Court needs to look no further than the facts of the present case to see that the current law works and the supporting policy is sound. Here we have a defendant who unquestionably knew of his right to counsel and unquestionably opted for his right to self-representation. To reverse the appellant's conviction would reward the appellant for playing games and changing his version of events to fit his new legal theories. Accordingly, this Court should not adopt a new rule requiring an advice-of-rights colloquy, but should maintain the current rule and affirm the ruling of the court below.

⁸ Relevant case law was already cited and discussed in a previous subsection beginning on page 18, supra.

C. THOUGH THE STATE DENIES ANY ERROR, ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS REQUIRED TO SPECIFICALLY ADVISE THE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL, OR OF HIS RIGHT NOT TO TESTIFY, THE COURT'S FAILURE TO DO SO IN THIS CASE WAS HARMLESS ERROR.

"Failure to observe a constitutional right; constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Syl. pt. 5, State v. Flippo, 212 W. Va. 560, 575 S.E.2d 170 (2002). Moreover, "errors involving deprivation of constitutional rights will be regarded as harmless only if there is no reasonable possibility that the violation contributed to the conviction." Id. at 191.

In the present case, assuming that such a duty existed, the failure to warn the appellant of his right not to testify is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The appellant, though acting *pro se*, had the foresight to move for a judgment as a matter of law at the close of the prosecution's case, including a statement as to why the evidence presented was insufficient to establish that he committed the crime of battery. (App. Vol. III at 43.) In denying the motion, the judge verbally recounted all of the evidence presented by the prosecution and stated on the record that a prima facie case had been made against the appellant. Id. The appellant then testified on his own behalf, but called no other witnesses.

Even if the judge would have informed the appellant of his right not to testify and the appellant had then chosen not to testify, it is clear that the outcome would have been the same because the judge had already ruled that a prima facie case had been made by the State. Therefore, the appellant's testimony was the only evidence offered to rebut the prosecution's case and he would have been convicted with or without it.

Regarding counsel, had the judge advised the appellant on the record of his right to counsel it is clear that the appellant would still have opted to represent himself, as he was already fully aware of his right to counsel and fully aware that he could have requested counsel at any point during the proceedings. It is clear that he was fully aware of his right to counsel based on the disclosure of such in magistrate court, at which time he expressly waived his right to counsel after confirming that the magistrate had informed him of his rights and even added the notation "without prejudice" to his signature, indicating his awareness that he could rescind the waiver and request counsel later in the case. Also indicative of his awareness of rights is his prior felony case in circuit court before the same judge, in which the judge repeatedly informed the appellant of his right to counsel and even urged him to take advantage of his right as an indigent to have counsel appointed, which the appellant repeatedly declined. Therefore, advising the appellant of his right to counsel yet again would have had the effect of preaching to the choir and the court's failure to do so did not affect the outcome of the case.

D. THE APPELLANT WAS GIVEN A FAIR TRIAL; NO SUBSTANTIAL ERRORS OCCURRED AND CERTAINLY NO CUMULATIVE ERRORS THAT WOULD WARRANT A REVERSAL OF THE CIRCUIT JUDGE'S RULING.

The appellant's final argument is that he was denied a fair trial due to cumulative error. The "egregious" errors alleged by the appellant simply did not occur or were not errors at all. These alleged errors have already been discussed supra, so a quick recap is sufficient.

He alleges that he was denied counsel, which is not true; he knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel. He alleges that the circuit court failed to inquire if the appellant desired self-representation, which is not actually required and the desire to self-represent was clearly

conveyed by the appellant's conduct. He claims that the judge failed to discuss his right not to testify, which is not actually required by the cases cited and was, in any event, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Finally, he alleges (without citing any authority) that he was denied his right to confront the victim, which he apparently confuses with his right to confront the witnesses against him. The appellant's constitutional right to confrontation is limited to the witnesses presented against him. The victim was not called as a witness and the state had no obligation to call the victim as a witness; therefore, this argument fails along with the entire argument of cumulative error.

VII.

CONCLUSION

As discussed in this brief, the appellant was not denied his right to counsel, he was not denied his due process rights, and he was not denied a fair trial. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the ruling of the circuit court and lay this case to rest once and for all.